THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Feb 17 2021

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-001007

Joseph Dean, Appellant,

v.

CSX Transportation, Inc., Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Kathleen C. Barnes, SC Bar No. 78854
BARNES LAW FIRM, LLC
P.O. Box 897
Hampton, SC 29924
803-943-4529
kbarnes@barneslawfirmnc.com

Randolph Murdaugh, IV
PETERS, MURDAUGH, PARKER,
ELTZROTH & DETRICK
P.O. Box 457
Hampton, SC 29924
803-943-2111
rmurdaugh@pmped.com

Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the lower court err by separately considering CSX's jurisdiction contacts with South Carolina rather than considering them as a whole?
- II. Did the lower court err in focusing on the location of Dean's residency and injuries to the exclusion of the forum location of CSX's tortious conduct?
- III. Did the lower court err in relying on a general personal jurisdiction case to make a ruling on specific personal jurisdiction?
- IV. Did the lower court err in holding that exercising specific jurisdiction over CSX would be constitutionally unreasonable?
- V. Did the lower court err in considering a "safety suit" filed in another forum in its specific jurisdiction determination?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order granting a motion to dismiss for lack of specific personal jurisdiction. On April 1, 2020, Appellant Joseph Dean filed a complaint against Respondent CSX Transportation, Inc., ("CSX") under the Federal Employers' Liability Act ("FELA"), 45 U.S.C. § 51, *et seq.*, to recover for personal injuries he sustained while working for CSX. (R. pp. 12-17). On April 15, 2020, CSX filed a motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction. (R. pp. 18-19). Both parties filed a memorandum and affidavit in support of their positions. (R. pp. 23-31, 38-45).

On June 17, 2020, the Honorable Michael G. Nettles entered an order granting the motion to dismiss for lack of specific personal jurisdiction. (R. pp. 3-10). Dean filed a timely notice of appeal. (R. p. 1).

FACTS

In January 2011, CSX hired Dean, a South Carolina resident, to work as a trainmaster in its Florence Division. (R. p. 32, ¶ 3). The CSX Florence Division is made up of its operations in South Carolina, North Carolina, and Virginia, and is headquartered in Florence, South Carolina. *Id.*

CSX is an international rail-based transportation service that includes traditional rail service and transportation of intermodal containers and trailers. (R. p. 36). Its network of tracks covers 23 states, the District of Columbia, and two Canadian provinces. *Id.* CSX is incorporated in Virginia with its principal place of business in Florida. (R. p. 21).

Within South Carolina, CSX operates almost 1,800 miles of track and employs approximately 1,000 people. (R. p. 35). CSX operates major rail yards in Charleston and Florence, and operates terminals in Charleston, Greenville, and Spartanburg. *Id.* Its Florence Division Headquarters and dispatch center are in Florence. *Id.*

When CSX hired Dean, it sent him to Charleston, South Carolina, for training and first assigned him to work in Greenwood, South Carolina. (R. p. 32). Almost a year later, in 2012, CSX transferred Dean within the Florence Division by assigning him to work in Richmond, Virginia. *Id.* During Dean's time in Richmond, his direct boss was the terminal manager located in Richmond, and his next higher-up boss was the Division Manager, Larry Koster, who was located at the Division Headquarters in Florence, South Carolina. (R. p. 33). Even after his transfer to Richmond, Dean attended meetings at the Division Headquarters in Florence and continued to receive direct work orders from Mr. Koster in Florence, including work assignments in South Carolina. (R. p. 33).

Dean's Injuries

At the time of his injuries, Dean worked the nightshift as a trainmaster at the Richmond rail yard. (R. p. 33). On April 15, 2017, Dean reported to work at 5:30 p.m. to work a shift that should have ended at 6:30 a.m. on April 16. *Id.* Before daylight on April 16, a train derailed at the rail yard. *Id.* The terminal manager was on vacation, so Dean reported the derailment to Larry Koster in Florence, South Carolina, as required. *Id.* Mr. Koster ordered Dean to keep working

(past the end of his usual shift) until the derailment resolved. (R. p. 33). Dean stayed on the job for almost 20 hours. (R. pp. 33-34).

With barely any break or rest, Dean returned to work his next shift at 6:00 p.m. on April 16. (R. p. 33). About eight hours later, around 2:00 a.m. on April 17, Dean suffered injuries while working. *Id.*

While Dean walked through the rail yard to inspect rail cars for safety issues, he saw a broken knuckle blocking a walking area. (R. pp. 13-14). When Dean attempted to move the knuckle to protect his coworkers, he stepped into a hole and felt a painful “pop” in his back. (R. pp. 14, 33). After Dean reported his injury, he drove back to the CSX office. (R. pp. 14, 33). While driving, Dean blacked out due to his exhaustion and pain, and crashed into a telephone pole. (R. pp. 14, 33-34).

Dean suffered severe and disabling injuries to his back, neck, and sternum. (R. p. 14). CSX no longer allowed him to work at the Richmond rail yard and, upon the advice of his counselor, he moved back to South Carolina to be near his support network to cope with his injuries. (R. p. 34).

Dean stated: “Part of the cause of my injuries was having to work many hours without adequate rest. Had Larry Koster not ordered me to remain on duty to complete the derailment work, I would have had normal and adequate rest and I likely would not have been injured as I was.” (R. pp. 33-34).

Counsel was associated shortly before the statute of limitations expired on Dean’s claim against CSX. (R. pp. 80-81). Because “railroads across the country are challenging general jurisdiction and oftentimes specific jurisdiction,” Dean’s counsel contacted CSX’s counsel to ask if CSX would challenge personal jurisdiction in South Carolina. (R. pp. 80-81). CSX’s answer

would be due after the statute of limitations expired. (R. pp. 80-81). When CSX stated it would challenge personal jurisdiction in South Carolina, Dean filed this action in South Carolina and also filed a “safety suit” in Florida to preserve the claim. (R. pp. 50, 81).

South Carolina FELA Action

On April 1, 2020, Dean filed this FELA action against CSX in South Carolina state court. (R. pp. 12-17). Dean alleged CSX’s negligent conduct caused his injuries. The negligence allegations include that CSX failed to “schedule sufficient time off for [him] to adequately rest before resuming his duties,” “provide sufficient training,” and “hire an adequate number of employees.” (R. pp. 14-15).

On April 15, 2020, CSX filed a Rule 12(b)(2), SCRPC, motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction in South Carolina. (R. pp. 18-19). CSX argued that Dean’s injuries occurred in Virginia and CSX is not “at home” in South Carolina. *Id.* CSX filed an affidavit of Lauren Lamp, a Field Investigations Specialist, who stated only that Dean’s injuries occurred in Virginia and that CSX is incorporated in Virginia with its principal place of business in Florida. (R. p. 21).

On May 22, 2020, Dean filed a memorandum in opposition to the motion to dismiss. (R. pp. 23-31). He argued that specific personal jurisdiction exists in this case but did not contest the absence of general jurisdiction. (R. p. 25). Dean argued that this action relates to CSX’s extensive South Carolina contacts and activities. (R. p. 27). He continuously worked for the CSX Division headquartered in Florence, South Carolina, and his employment included meetings and work assignments in South Carolina such that CSX could reasonably anticipate litigating an action related to his employment in South Carolina. (R. p. 29). The work order that required him to work overtime to the point of exhaustion came from a CSX employee located in Florence, South Carolina. (R. pp. 29-30).

CSX filed a memorandum in support of the motion arguing it did not direct its activities towards a South Carolina resident, its South Carolina activities are not relevant to specific jurisdiction, and Dean can pursue the Florida safety suit. (R. pp. 38-45).

On May 26, 2020, the Honorable Michael G. Nettles held a hearing on the motion. CSX argued that the order from South Carolina directing Dean to stay at work to resolve the derailment is insufficient for specific jurisdiction because it was not directed to a South Carolina resident (Dean lived in Virginia at the time) and the injuries occurred in Virginia. (R. pp. 70-71).

In response, Dean argued that the forum state of the conduct that caused injuries is always a proper basis for specific jurisdiction when a defendant has minimum contacts there related to the action. (R. pp. 66-68, 72-77). Dean noted that CSX did not cite a case where the conduct complained of occurred in the forum state and a court lacked specific jurisdiction. (R. p. 68). Dean filed this action in “the state where the conduct was” and “brought it in South Carolina because the orders came from South Carolina.” (R. pp. 68, 74). Finally, Dean noted that the cases that discuss directing conduct towards a forum resident involve conduct that occurred outside of the forum state, and, in this case, the conduct occurred in South Carolina. (R. pp. 73-74).

On June 17, 2020, the lower court issued an order granting the motion to dismiss without prejudice. (R. pp. 3-11). The lower court relied on an opinion in an alleged similar case—*BNSF Railway Co. v. Tyrrell*, 137 S. Ct. 1549 (2017)—that addressed general jurisdiction. (R. p. 4). It also held exercising jurisdiction over CSX “in this case in South Carolina would be constitutionally unreasonable” and that Dean still has a remedy in the Florida safety suit. (R. p. 10).

The lower court separated CSX’s jurisdictional contacts into three categories and held each one, standing alone, does not satisfy specific personal jurisdiction. First, the lower court addressed CSX’s business activities and presence in South Carolina. It held CSX’s South Carolina contacts

including rail yards, terminals, almost two thousand miles of tracks, approximately 1,000 employees, and the three-state Division Headquarters that employed Dean “cannot *by itself* subject CSXT to specific personal jurisdiction” in South Carolina. (R. pp. 5-6) (emphasis added).

Second, the court addressed Dean’s employment relationship with CSX. It held that Dean’s hiring in South Carolina, continued work for the Florence Division headquartered in South Carolina, and meetings attended in South Carolina show only the defendant’s relationship with the plaintiff (or a third party), and that, “standing *alone*,” is not sufficient to exercise specific jurisdiction. (R. p. 6) (emphasis added and internal quotation marks omitted).

Third, the lower court addressed the work order that came from the Division Headquarters in South Carolina. It held the order to Dean from his boss in South Carolina to work overtime does not confer jurisdiction because it is a “single phone call” placed by Dean in which Mr. Koster gave a work order to Dean, a Virginia resident. (R. pp. 6-10). The court found that an interstate communication “*alone*” or “by itself” does not confer jurisdiction. (R. p. 7) (emphasis added). It found the work order was not directed towards a South Carolina resident, which is, according to the lower court, “the relevant inquiry” for specific jurisdiction and consistent with South Carolina’s long-arm statute. (R. pp. 8-9).

On July 16, 2020, Dean timely filed a notice of appeal. (R. p. 1).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The question of personal jurisdiction over a nonresident defendant is one which must be resolved upon the facts of each particular case. The decision of the trial court will be affirmed unless unsupported by the evidence or influenced by an error of law.” *State v. NV Sumatra Tobacco Trading, Co.*, 379 S.C. 81, 88, 666 S.E.2d 218, 221 (2008) (internal citation omitted).

ARGUMENT

The Court is presented with the issue of whether Dean's FELA cause of action arises out of or relates to CSX's contacts with South Carolina. CSX has undisputed extensive contacts in South Carolina and committed tortious conduct in South Carolina that injured Dean. The lower court found this insufficient for personal jurisdiction because Dean resided in Virginia and his injury occurred in Virginia. However, there is no South Carolina or federal case that holds the injury must occur or the plaintiff must live in the forum state for personal jurisdiction to exist. The lower court erred in applying that mechanical legal reasoning rather than considering the particular facts and circumstances of this case.

Specific personal jurisdiction over a cause of action generally arises "from a defendant's contacts with the state [and] is granted pursuant to the long-arm statute." *State v. NV Sumatra Tobacco Trading, Co.*, 379 S.C. 81, 88, 666 S.E.2d 218, 222 (2008). However, "South Carolina's long-arm statute has been construed to extend to the outer limits of the due process clause." *Id.* at 89, 666 S.E.2d at 222. "Because South Carolina treats its long-arm statute as coextensive with the due process clause, the *sole* question becomes whether the exercise of personal jurisdiction would violate due process." *Id.* (emphasis added).

"Due process requires a defendant possess minimum contacts with the forum state such that maintenance of suit does not offend traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice" and "he could reasonably anticipate being haled into court there." *Cribb v. Spatholt*, 382 S.C. 490, 499, 676 S.E.2d 714, 719 (Ct. App. 2009) (internal quotation marks omitted). In the particular context of specific jurisdiction, due process requires that "the cause of action arises specifically from a defendant's contacts with the forum." *Coggeshall v. Reprod. Endocrine Assocs.*, 376 S.C. 12, 16, 655 S.E.2d 476, 478 (2007).

In this case, CSX acknowledged it possesses minimum contacts with South Carolina. (R. p. 65). It argued that Dean’s FELA action does not arise out of those contacts because Dean’s injuries occurred in Virginia while he lived in Virginia. In agreeing with CSX’s position, the lower court erred in: (1) separately considering CSX’s jurisdiction contacts rather than analyzing them as a whole, (2) focusing on the location of Dean’s residency and injuries rather than on CSX’s contacts with and conduct in the forum state, (3) relying on a general personal jurisdiction case to rule on specific personal jurisdiction, (4) holding that exercising specific jurisdiction over CSX would be constitutionally unreasonable, and (5) considering the Florida “safety suit” in its determination of whether the exercise of personal jurisdiction over CSX in South Carolina is constitutional. The lower court’s decision is unsupported by the evidence and influenced by numerous errors of law. This Court should reverse.

I. The lower court erred when it separated CSX’s jurisdiction contacts rather than considering them as a whole.

The lower court committed an error of law when it parsed out each of CSX’s specific jurisdiction contacts and considered them separately rather than viewing and considering them as a whole. The court separately analyzed the extent of CSX’s business operations and physical presence in South Carolina, Dean’s employment relationship with CSX, and the work order from Mr. Koster in South Carolina. (R. pp. 5-10). It held that each individual one was insufficient for specific personal jurisdiction. Properly considering these as a whole, this Court should reverse.

“[F]or a state court to exercise specific jurisdiction, the *suit* must arise out of or relate to the defendant’s contacts with the *forum*.” *Bristol-Myers Squibb Co. v. Superior Court*, 137 S. Ct. 1773, 1780 (2017) (internal quotation and alteration marks omitted; emphasis in original). Conducting this analysis requires that the Court identify all of a defendant’s contacts and

purposefully availing activities within the forum state so it can determine whether the plaintiff's cause of action arises from or relates to those contacts.

In this case, CSX acknowledged its extensive contacts with South Carolina. (R. p. 65). However, the lower court accepted CSX's attempt to divorce itself from those contacts as being relevant only to general jurisdiction.¹ (R. pp. 65, 5-6). This is contrary to established law that the "inquiry to determine whether the exercise of specific jurisdiction over a party comports with due process" includes "the extent to which the defendant purposefully availed itself of the privilege of conducting activities in the State." *ESAB Group, Inc. v. Zurich Ins. PLC*, 685 F.3d 376, 391-92 (4th Cir. 2012) (internal quotation marks omitted). Contrary to the lower court's holding and CSX's argument, CSX's contacts with South Carolina are relevant and necessary to the specific jurisdiction analysis.

CSX's South Carolina contacts include the Florence Division Headquarters, 1,800 miles of track, 1,000 employees, major rail yards and terminals, and Dean's training and work assignments. (R. p. 35). CSX chose to design a Division that includes three states and to put the headquarters for that interstate division in South Carolina. CSX chose to design its business operations so that an employee located in South Carolina managed and oversaw operations at a Virginia rail yard. CSX chose to hire and train Dean in South Carolina and later transfer him to a

¹ The lower court cited to *Fidrych v. Marriott Int'l, Inc.*, 952 F.3d 124 (4th Cir. 2020), for its holding that CSX's track and employees in South Carolina "cannot by itself subject CSXT to specific personal jurisdiction in this State." (R. pp. 5-6). In *Fidrych*, the Fourth Circuit found some of the defendant's connections to the forum state "not relevant" to specific jurisdiction only *after* it found those activities "have nothing to do with the claims asserted by the Plaintiffs in this action." *Id.* at 139. The lower court in this case did not find that CSX's physical presence in South Carolina has nothing to do with Dean's claims and, therefore, erred in disregarding those contacts. CSX's physical presence includes the Division Headquarters, which CSX designed to control three states' track operations from a South Carolina office. This is directly relevant to Dean's argument that his claims arise out of CSX's business operations in South Carolina.

Virginia rail yard where he was still subject to the authority of a headquarters and boss in South Carolina, to whom Dean was required to report a derailment that occurred in Virginia. CSX purposely and knowingly connected its Virginia operations, including Dean's job, to the Florence Division Headquarters in South Carolina.

The lower court committed an error of law when it separately considered CSX's physical presence and business operations in South Carolina, Dean's employment relationship with CSX, and Mr. Koster's work order from South Carolina. As to all three considerations, the lower court found each one by itself was not sufficient for specific jurisdiction. (R. pp. 5-10). However, none of these considerations operated alone. CSX's presence and headquarters in South Carolina is the controlling authority over Dean's job in Virginia, and the order that came from South Carolina is a cause of Dean's injuries. The lower court erred in accepting CSX's invitation to separate these considerations rather than viewing them as a whole.

Properly considering all of CSX's South Carolina contacts, it is apparent that specific jurisdiction is satisfied because Dean's FELA cause of action arises out of or relates to those contacts. Relatedness is satisfied when there is "an affiliation between the forum and the underlying controversy, principally, an activity or occurrence that takes place in the forum state."² *Bristol-Myers Squibb Co. v. Superior Court*, 137 S. Ct. 1773, 1781 (2017) (internal quotation and

² The Supreme Court of the United States used numerous phrases to describe relatedness. *See, e.g., Goodyear Dunlop Tires Operations, S.A. v. Brown*, 564 U.S. 915, 919 (2011) ("[S]pecific jurisdiction is confined to adjudication of issues deriving from, or connected with, the very controversy that establishes jurisdiction" (internal quotation marks omitted)); *Helicopteros Nacionales De Colombia v. Hall*, 466 U.S. 408, 414 (1984) (referring to "a controversy [that] is related to or arises out of a defendant's contacts with the forum"); *Keeton v. Hustler Magazine, Inc.*, 465 U.S. 770, 780 (1984) (referring to "the relations among the defendant, the forum, and the litigation").

alteration marks omitted) (also referring to a “connection between the forum and the specific claims at issue”).

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