**RECEIVED**

**Feb 24 2021**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

**SC Court of Appeals**

---

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2020-001007

Joseph Dean,

Appellant,

v.

CSX Transportation, Inc.,

Respondent.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

Ronald K. Wray, II (S.C. Bar # 65246)  
James A. Bradshaw (S.C. Bar #100548)  
GALLIVAN, WHITE & BOYD, P.A.  
55 Beattie Place, Suite 1200  
P.O. Box 10589  
Greenville, SC 29603  
Telephone: (864) 271-5362  
Facsimile: (864) 271-7502

Attorneys for Respondent,  
CSX Transportation, Inc.

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

Moreover, the telephone call was not placed by Mr. Koster, but it was instead Appellant who initiated the call. See *Appellant’s Aff.*, (R. p. 33 at ¶ 11). The lower court keenly recognized this distinction and held, “Plaintiff’s phone call to Koster therefore does not constitute tortious conduct *by the defendant* directed at South Carolina as is required for the

Court to exercise personal jurisdiction in this case.” *See Trial Ct. Order*, (R. p. 9-10 at 7-8). Appellant claims “[t]hat Dean placed the phone call to Mr. Koster is an incorrect focus.” *See Appellant’s Brf.*, at 17. However, in considering personal jurisdiction allegedly arising from telephone calls, South Carolina courts focus on who initiated the calls. In *Aviation Associates and Consultants, Inc. v. Jet Time, Inc.*, 303 S.C. 502, 402 S.E.2d 177, the Court of Appeals held as follows when finding a lack of personal jurisdiction:

In regard to the character and circumstances of [defendant’s] acts, there is nothing before this Court that indicates that [defendant] purposefully availed itself of the privilege of conducting business activities in South Carolina to the extent necessary to find personal jurisdiction over it in this case. **Every communication between the parties was initiated by [plaintiff].** [Defendant] merely responded to [plaintiff’s] unsolicited, unilateral contact by talking on the telephone to [[plaintiff] when [plaintiff] called, and returning one telecopy in which it acquiesced to [plaintiff’s] request to register two of its customers with [defendant]. This type of attenuated, isolated contact should not subject [defendant] to suit in the in the initiator’s home forum.

303 S.C. at 508-09, 402 S.E.2d at 180 (emphasis added). In fact, as set forth above, focusing on whether the defendant or the plaintiff initiated the call is completely in line with South Carolina jurisprudence on specific jurisdiction which requires a finding that “*the defendant* directed his activities to residents of South Carolina and that the cause of action arises out of or relates to those activities.” *Cribb*, 382 S.C. at 483, 676 S.E.2d at 711 (emphasis added); *see Walden v. Fiore*, 571 U.S. 277, 285 (2014) (“But the plaintiff cannot be the only link between the defendant and the forum.”).

Furthermore, even if Appellant’s telephone call to Mr. Koster could somehow be considered activity by CSXT occurring in South Carolina, it cannot be argued that this activity was directed at a resident of the forum as the precedent cited above requires. Moreover, this singular phone from Virginia to South Carolina does not form the “substantial connection”

between the litigation and South Carolina required for the exercise of specific jurisdiction. *See Pitts v. Fink*, 389 S.C. 156, 164, 698 S.E.2d 626, 630 (Ct. App. 2010). No matter how Appellant packages the argument, Appellant cannot escape the fact that this single communication initiated by him is precisely the type of “random, fortuitous, or attenuated contact” that other courts have found insufficient to support specific jurisdiction. *See Moosally v. W.W. Norton & Co., Inc.*, 358 S.C. 320, 332, 594 S.E.2d 878, 884 (Ct. App. 2004).

To illustrate this point consider the following. CSXT’s Florence Division covers multiple southeastern states, including South Carolina, North Carolina, Georgia, Virginia and West Virginia. Plaintiff’s affidavit is silent as to how he has personal knowledge that Koster was in South Carolina at the time of the call as opposed to traveling in any of the other states he supervised. Even assuming Plaintiff is correct and Koster was in South Carolina when he received a call from a Virginia resident asking about a Virginia derailment and requesting instructions about what to do in Virginia, personal jurisdiction simply does not turn on the fortuity of where Koster happened to be located when Plaintiff reached him by phone. This is particularly true in a case like this where the incident and subsequent injuries alleged by Plaintiff had nothing to do with South Carolina and no connection to this state, but also occurred in Virginia.

The trial court’s ruling that a single call from an out of state resident directed to an individual allegedly in South Carolina cannot create personal jurisdiction is also consistent with precedent. For example, a federal court in South Carolina has explicitly held that a “single phone call . . . is not sufficient to establish specific jurisdiction over a defendant.” *Scansource, Inc. v. Mittel Networks Corp.*, C/A No. 6:11-cv-00382-GRA, 2011 WL 2550719, at \*3 (D.S.C. June 24, 2011); *see Porter v. Berall*, 293 F.3d 1073, 1076 (8th Cir. 2002) (“Contact by phone or

mail is insufficient to justify exercise of personal jurisdiction under the due process clause.”). For instance, in *Cleveland v. Accumarine and Transp., LP*, C/A No. 6:10-cv-01334-JMC, 2011 WL 939011 (D.S.C. Mar. 16, 2011), a Jones Act case, the plaintiff claimed that he was injured while working on the defendant’s tug boat on the Mississippi River just above Baton Rouge, Louisiana. Nevertheless, the plaintiff filed suit in the District of South Carolina and argued that the court could exercise specific jurisdiction over the defendant because the defendant was doing business in the State of South Carolina, and the plaintiff was hired by the defendant in South Carolina. *Id.* at \*3. The plaintiff alleged that he received a phone call from the defendant in South Carolina offering him employment, and the defendant further authorized medical care for the plaintiff in South Carolina after the accident. In fact, the plaintiff alleged that the defendant’s failure to pay for medical care caused him to receive collection notices from a collection agency, and he sought resulting damages. With respect to the phone call on which the plaintiff accepted employment with the defendant, the court held, “Defendant’s telephone call to Plaintiff in South Carolina is insufficient to constitute minimum contacts with the State of South Carolina.” *Id.* at \*4.

Similarly, in *Denver Truck and Trailer Sales, Inc. v. Design and Building Services, Inc.*, 653 N.W.2d 88 (S.D. 2002), a South Dakota corporation filed suit in South Dakota against a Colorado corporation with which it had contracted to redesign the plaintiff’s Colorado location. As part of the suit, the plaintiff alleged tortious interference with a contract when the defendant Colorado corporation’s attorney contacted the South Dakota corporation via a telephone call and threatened to file a materialman’s lien on the building in Colorado, while the company was under negotiations to sell the building. In finding this phone call in which an alleged tortious act occurred insufficient for personal jurisdiction purposes, the South Dakota Supreme Court held

that “the mere fact of threatening a materialman’s lien on property located in Colorado is insufficient to support a finding that [the Colorado corporation] could have reasonably anticipated being ‘haled into court’ in South Dakota.” 653 N.W.2d at 93; *see Michiana Easy Livin’ Country, Inc. v. Holten*, 168 S.W.3d 777, (Tex. 2005) (disapproving of opinions holding that “specific jurisdiction is necessarily established by allegations or evidence that a nonresident committed a tort in a telephone call from a Texas number”). Thus, even though Appellant alleges that Mr. Koster’s “communication during the phone call is tortious conduct that caused his injuries,” this repackaging of Appellant’s argument does not get him around the fact that this single telephone call is insufficient to support specific jurisdiction. *See Appellant’s Brf.*, at 15.

Moreover, even if this alleged conduct by Mr. Koster during this one phone call in directing Appellant to continue working the Virginia derailment could somehow form a connection to South Carolina, which it cannot, it does not constitute the “substantial connection” required for specific jurisdiction. *See Aviation Associates and Consultants, Inc.*, 303 S.C. at 508, 402 S.E.2d at 180 (“Although a single act may support jurisdiction, it must create a ‘substantial connection’ with the forum.”). A review of Appellant’s Complaint shows that the real impetus of this litigation is the fact that Appellant was first allegedly injured when he was walking through CSXT’s Richmond, Virginia yard and stepped into a hole. *See Compl.* (R. pp. 13-14 at ¶ VIII). The first particular of alleged negligence against CSXT in the Complaint is that CSXT “failed to inspect and provide proper inspection, maintenance and repair of the Yard to be certain same was safe for its employees, including Plaintiff.” *Id.* at ¶ X.b.

Additionally, this alleged injury in the Richmond Yard on April 17, 2017 and Appellant’s subsequent automobile accident occurred well after Appellant’s alleged phone call with Koster on April 16, 2017 and after Appellant had ended his previous shift and begun his normal shift.

Appellant's affidavit states that he reported the derailment to Mr. Koster in the early morning hours of April 16, 2017 and that Mr. Koster required him "to remain on the job almost 20 hours." *See Appellant's Aff.*, (R. p. 33 at ¶¶ 10-11). Appellant allegedly worked a "nineteen-hour shift" between April 15, 2017 and April 16, 2017 and then a thirteen-hour shift between April 16, 2017 and April 17, 2017 with "four hours rest between the two" shifts. *See Compl.*, (R. pp. 13-14 at ¶ VIII). While Appellant's affidavit states that Mr. Koster in this phone call in the early morning hours of April 16, 2017 required Appellant to complete the previous nineteen-hour shift to help with the derailment, there is no allegation that there was any subsequent contact with Mr. Koster or that he was the person who required Appellant to return to work the next day with only four hours rest to begin his normal shift. Appellant's affidavit merely states, "With virtually no rest, **I was required to begin my normal shift** at about 6:00 PM on April 16, 2017 and I worked without rest until 2-2:30 AM on April 17, 2017 when I was injured" and makes no mention of Mr. Koster giving this subsequent order. *See Appellant's Aff.*, (R. p. 33 at ¶ 12) (emphasis added). In other words, Mr. Koster's action in allegedly taking a phone call from Appellant the day before the accident and asking Appellant to assist with the derailment investigation does not constitute negligence, has no connection with Appellant stepping in a hole and wrecking his vehicle the next day, and it certainly is not the action that allegedly led to any of Appellant's alleged injuries or damages. *See Gray v. Southern Facilities, Inc.*, 256 S.C. 558, 567, 183 S.E.2d 438, 442 (1971) (stating that "a cause of action for negligence occurs only when injury or damage have been caused thereby to the complaining party"). Thus, Mr. Koster's one phone call from Appellant in Virginia during Appellant's previous shift in Virginia that related only to Appellant's work during that shift, does not form the "substantial connection" to this litigation

necessary to support specific jurisdiction over CSXT in South Carolina. Instead, it is at most a “random, fortuitous, or attenuated contact.” *See Moosally*, 358 S.C. at 332, 594 S.E.2d at 884.

III. THE LOWER COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT THE EXERCISE OF PERSONAL JURISDICTION OVER CSXT IN THIS CASE WOULD BE UNREASONABLE AND UNFAIR.

Finally, the lower court fully considered the “fairness” prong of the personal jurisdiction analysis and properly found that the exercise of personal jurisdiction over CSXT in this instance would not be reasonable and fair. *See Trial Ct. Order*, (R. p. 10); *Cribb*, 382 S.C. at 483, 676 S.E.2d at 711. Appellant is correct that in making this determination, courts can consider “the following factors: (1) the duration of the defendant’s activity in this State; (2) the character and circumstances of its acts; (3) the inconvenience to the parties; and (4) the State’s interest in exercising jurisdiction.” *Appellant’s Brf.*, at 19 (quoting *Cribb*, 382 S.C. at 499-500, 676 S.E.2d at 719). However, Appellant’s contention that the lower court’s failure to consider these factors is “reversible legal error,” in addition to being factually inaccurate, is an incorrect statement of law. South Carolina courts hold that this list of factors expounded by Appellant is by no means an exclusive or mandatory list for a trial court to consider under the fairness prong. *See Southern Plastics Co. v. Southern Commerce Bank*, 310 S.C. 256, 263, 423 S.E.2d 128, 132 (1992) (“In order to determine whether the exercise of jurisdiction over a foreign defendant is fair, we may look to the following factors, among others”).

Furthermore, the trial court did consider the factors expounded by Appellant. As to the duration of CSXT’s activities in this state and the character and circumstances of CSXT’s acts related to this litigation, the lower court held, “This single phone call made by Plaintiff from Virginia is simply too tenuous of a connection to comply with Due Process.” *Trial Ct. Order*, (R. p. 10). As to the convenience of the parties and South Carolina’s interest in this litigation,

the Court noted that “[i]t is undisputed that Plaintiff has filed an identical action in Florida, where CSXT has its principal place of business” and that “the parties can litigate in Florida whether Virginia or Florida is the proper venue for Plaintiff to pursue his claims.” *Id.* The trial court fully considered all relevant factors and properly concluded that it would be unreasonable and unfair to exercise personal jurisdiction over CSXT in this case. This ruling should be affirmed. *See Cockrell*, 363 S.C. at 491, 611 S.E.2d at 508 (“The decision of the trial court should be affirmed unless unsupported by the evidence or influenced by an error of law.”)

#### IV. THE LOWER COURT CORRECTLY CONSIDERED THE PENDENCY OF THE FLORIDA “SAFETY SUIT” IN ANALYZING THE “FAIRNESS” PRONG OF THE DUE PROCESS ANALYSIS.

The lower court’s consideration of, and reference to, the lawsuit Appellant has pending in Florida relating to this same incident was entirely proper and in no way constituted legal error. Obviously, the existence of another suit in another forum involving the same exact parties and issues falls squarely within the analysis under the “fairness” prong of the due process analysis and is a proper consideration by the trial court when weighing one state’s interest in exercising jurisdiction against another. An actual filed suit in another forum is far different than a defendant posing a hypothetical and pointing “to the availability of a forum where it is subject to general jurisdiction.” *See Appellant’s Brf.*, at 21. In fact, based on principles of comity, some courts will decline to exercise jurisdiction in a case where the exact same parties have a simultaneously pending case in other jurisdiction. *See Sparrow v. Nerzig*, 228 S.C. 277, 286, 89 S.E.2d 718, 722 (1955) (“Thus where a prior action is pending in the state court between the same parties and involving the same issues, and a decision by that court would adjudicate all the rights of the parties, the federal court, although having jurisdiction to entertain an action or declaratory judgment brought by a defendant in the pending cause, will decline to exercise it.”);

*Brightpoint, Inc. v. Pedersen*, 930 N.E.2d 34, 39-40 (Ind. App. 2010) (“Courts in other jurisdictions likewise have concluded that where an action concerning the same parties and the same subject matter has been commenced in another jurisdiction capable of granting prompt and complete justice, comity ordinarily should require staying or dismissal of a subsequent action filed in a different jurisdiction, in the absence of special circumstances.”). Thus, the lower court’s consideration of the so-called Florida “safety suit”, which is not on appeal and in which discovery is proceeding on the very issues raised in Appellant’s Complaint in this case, was proper under the “fairness” prong, as it is relevant to South Carolina’s interest in litigating this case and clearly supports a finding that an exercise of personal jurisdiction over CSXT in this South Carolina case is unfair and unreasonable.

#### CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, this Court should affirm the judgment of the circuit court finding that specific personal jurisdiction over CSXT does not exist in South Carolina in this case and dismissing the Complaint without prejudice.